**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**

---

STEVEN TURNER,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

---

) NO. 76465

) Electronically Filed  
) Nov 18 2019 03:59 p.m.  
) Elizabeth A. Brown  
) Clerk of Supreme Court

**PETITION FOR REVIEW**

DARIN F. IMLAY  
CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEF.  
309 South Third Street, #226  
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610  
(702) 455-4685

Attorney for Appellant

STEVEN B. WOLFSON  
CLARK COUNTY DIST ATTY.  
200 Lewis Avenue, 3<sup>rd</sup> Floor  
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155  
(702) 455-4711

AARON D. FORD  
Attorney General  
Nevada Bar No. 005248  
100 North Carson Street  
Carson City, Nevada 89701-4717  
(775) 684-1265

Counsel for Respondent

### I. JURISDICTION

On October 31, 2019, the Nevada Court of Appeals issued an Order affirming Steven Turner’s convictions for conspiracy to commit burglary, attempted burglary while in possession of a firearm or deadly weapon, two counts of attempted murder with use of a deadly weapon, and battery with use of a deadly weapon resulting in substantial bodily harm. See Exhibit 1, Order of Affirmance. **NRAP 40B** permits an aggrieved party to petition the Nevada Supreme Court for review of a decision of the Court of Appeals within 18 days after the filing of the Court of Appeals’ decision. See **NRAP 40B(c)**. This Petition for Review has been timely filed within that 18-day period.

### II. QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in affirming Steven Turner’s convictions for the specific intent crime of attempt murder with use of a deadly weapon, where the State asked the jury to convict him based on the contents of his nontestifying co-defendant’s partially-redacted statements to police, in violation of **Bruton v. United States**, 391 U.S. 123 (1968).
- B. What degree of specificity is required to satisfy **NRS 174.234(2)(a)**, which states that an expert disclosure “shall” include a “brief statement regarding the subject matter on which the expert witness is expected to testify and the substance of the testimony”, and whether the State’s expert witness notice satisfied that standard in this case.

### **III. REASONS REVIEW IS WARRANTED**

Pursuant to **NRAP 40B**, this Court has discretion to review a decision of the Court of Appeals at the request of an aggrieved party. Factors that this Court will consider when exercising that discretion include:

- (1) Whether the question presented is one of first impression of general statewide significance;
- (2) Whether the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a prior decision of the Court of Appeals, the Supreme Court, or the United States Supreme Court;
- (3) Whether the case involves fundamental issues of statewide public importance.

#### **NRAP 40B(a).**

This Petition raises two fundamental issues of first statewide public importance: (1) the State's improper use of a nontestifying codefendant's redacted confession against a defendant in a joint trial in violation of the Sixth Amendment; and (2) the level of specificity required for expert disclosures made pursuant to **NRS 174.234(2)(a)**.

As to the first issue, the Court of Appeals' analysis generally conflicts with United States Supreme Court precedent in **Bruton v. United States**, 391 U.S. 123 (1968), **Richardson v. Marsh**, 481 U.S. 200 (1987) and **Grey v. Maryland**, 523 U.S. 185 (1998). The Court of Appeals' analysis also generally conflicts with this Court's precedent in **Ducksworth v. State**, 113 Nev. 780 (1997) ("**Ducksworth I**"), **Ducksworth v. State**, 114 Nev. 951

(1998) (“**Ducksworth II**”), and **Sitton v. State**, No. 73014, 2019 WL 1772439 (Nev., April 19, 2019) (unpublished). Furthermore, although both **Ducksworth I and II** and **Sitton** generally addressed redacted statements that (in and of themselves) inculpated a co-defendant, this case involves a much more serious type of **Bruton** violation, and one that the Nevada Supreme Court has not had occasion to address in a published decision: the impact of a closing argument by the State that specifically asks the jury to consider a co-defendant’s redacted statement as evidence that the defendant committed the charged crimes.

Finally, as to the second issue, the degree of specificity required under **NRS 174.234(2)(a)** appears to be an issue of first impression in the State of Nevada. Discretionary review is warranted to address both of these important issues.

*A. The Court of Appeals erred in affirming Steven Turner’s two convictions for attempt murder with use of a deadly weapon, where the State asked the jury to convict him based on the contents of his non-testifying co-defendant’s partially-redacted statements to police, in violation of **Bruton**.*

In the early morning hours of September 4, 2015, Eric Clarkson and Willoughby Potter de Grimaldi awoke to discover three black males prowling around their home. (VII:1362-63;XI:2359-62). They called the police and Officers Malik Grego Smith and Jeremy Robertson arrived



shortly thereafter. (VII:1308,1314,1348;VIII:1598,1650). The officers entered the pitch-black home and proceeded to the back of the house, after the residents indicated that a prowler was on their back patio. (VII:1314;VIII:1606-07). As Officer Robertson unlocked the patio door and Grego-Smith took a step to go outside, “two shots” came in from outside on the patio. (VIII:1612-13). Officer Robertson was shot in the leg and seriously injured. (VIII:1656).

After the shoot-out, police discovered Clemon Hudson on the ground in the back yard with a shotgun between his legs, a rifle underneath him and a small Beretta handgun nearby. (VII:1452,VIII:1514). Three-and-a-half hours later, police located Steven Turner walking down the street with a gunshot wound to the leg. (VIII:1524,1528).

Hudson and Turner both gave statements to police. Although Turner admitted that Hudson had driven him to the home so they could steal some weed and possibly some money (IX:1782-83), Turner adamantly denied ever handling any of the firearms found at the scene. (IX:1790).

Hudson, by contrast, told police that **both of them** handled the weapons, and directly implicated Turner in the shooting:

- “I didn’t have the shotgun at the time **when both of us fired** – when the fire was going on.” Court Exhibit A, November 30, 2017 (clemon ct redactions 1) at p. 12 (emphasis added).

- “And we were getting blasted, you know, through the mirror. I fell on the ground and **I see him shoot to the right side of me.**” Court Exhibit A, November 30, 2017 (clemon ct redactions 1) at p. 13 (emphasis added).
- “**And he had the SK.**” Court Exhibit A, November 30, 2017 (clemon ct redactions 2) at p. 13 (emphasis added).
- CJ: . . . . How many shots does [he] shoot? CH: I have no idea.”

Court Exhibit A, November 30, 2017 (clemon ct redactions 2) at p. 13.

Turner and Hudson were indicted together on six charges, including two counts of attempt murder with use of a deadly weapon. (I:1-6). Before trial, Turner and Hudson jointly moved to sever their trials pursuant to **Bruton v. United States**, 391 U.S. 123, 135-37 (1968). (XI:2247-52;II:276-472). The district court denied the joint motion, believing that the co-defendants’ incriminating statements could be adequately redacted to avoid prejudice. (III:718).

At trial, Turner conceded that he was guilty of conspiracy to commit burglary and attempt burglary because he and Hudson had driven to the house together, intending to steal weed. (VII:1268-71). However, Turner asked the jury to find him “not guilty” of attempted murder with use of a

///

deadly weapon because he never handled or fired any weapon. (X:2069).<sup>1</sup>

Turner's theory of defense was that a third individual held the SKS rifle that shot Officer Robertson. (X:2047-51;2057-58;2061-63). Evidence presented at trial supported Turner's defense that a third person had met them at the home after they arrived in Hudson's car:

- Grimaldi saw three distinct individuals circling his home on the morning in question, but none of those individuals matched Turner's description. When defense counsel showed Grimaldi a photograph of Turner that had been taken on the day in question, Grimaldi acknowledged that he did not recognize Turner as one of the individuals he saw at the house. (VII:1362-63;XI:2359-62;State's Exhibit 28).
- Although Clarkson testified that he had known Turner for several years and that the two had been friends, (VII:1300-01), he did not see Turner at his house that night either. (VII:1332-33).
- Turner did not match the description of the shirtless individual in basketball shorts that Grego-Smith saw on the back patio, and Grego-Smith confirmed that Hudson was not that individual either. (VIII:1623).
- Turner had not changed his clothing after being shot in the leg; when arrested, he was wearing bright orange pants with holes in them that were covered in his blood. (X:2050;State's Exhibits 28-32).
- After examining 16 separate lab items, including the three firearms that allegedly belonged to the two suspects in this case, the State was unable to connect *any* of those items to Turner using either DNA or fingerprint analysis. (IX:1722).

---

<sup>1</sup> At trial, Turner also asked the jury to find him "not guilty" of possessing a firearm during the attempt burglary, and "not guilty" of battery with use of a deadly weapon causing substantial bodily harm. X:2069). However, Turner does not challenge those convictions in this Petition for Review.

- In his two statements that were admitted at trial, Turner denied having or firing a gun during the incident. (IX:1788-90).

At trial, the State asked the jury to consider Hudson's redacted statements as evidence of Turner's guilt on the attempt murder charges. See Appellant's Opening Brief at 19-22. The State used Hudson's statements to establish that there were only two people involved in the crime, not three as argued by Turner. (IX:1737,1739,1744,1746-47,1750,1752). The State also used Hudson's statements to establish that Turner both held and fired the SKS rifle that shot Officer Robertson in the leg. (IX:1740,1749). In closing, the State specifically asked the jury to consider the co-defendants' inculpatory statements against one-another:

- "What else do we know? Remember that diagram?<sup>2</sup> You'll have this map to take back with you as well. **Two stars right up against that window. Two people.**" (X:2040).
- "What does Mr. Hudson say? **Both are standing by the window** when the shots come out, **when they start shooting.** Okay." (X:2040)
- "**There's two confessions; both of them said two people.** There's two stars on the diagram. Turner said it. Hudson said it. I could go on" (X:2092).
- There's two cell phones that come back to them in those -- in that car, and **they said so.** There's no third person ever in the car. There's two defendants, **they told you,** they were [in] that car. (X:2093-94).

---

<sup>2</sup> This diagram was based on Hudson's statements to police.

- “**They told** you they were going to do armed robbery. **Hudson said so.** Turner minimized. He kind of distanced himself from the gun when he realized that he put a round through an officer.” (X:2094).
- “All the witnesses said they opened fire without warning. **Hudson claimed the other guy, who I submit to you is Turner, shot before him.**” (X:2095).

After the jury found Turner guilty of all charges, he filed a motion for a new trial based on the State’s violation of **Bruton** at trial. (III:620-26). The court denied Turner’s motion for a new trial and Turner appealed. (IV:741).

Citing “plain error” doctrine, the Nevada Court of Appeals affirmed Turner’s convictions for attempted murder with use of a deadly weapon for two reasons: (1) because the State’s closing argument “did not violate *Bruton*”; and (2) because Turner “did not suffer prejudice” from the State’s argument. See Exhibit 1 at page 8. Yet, even under plain error doctrine, these conclusions conflict with prior decisions of the United States Supreme Court and the Nevada Supreme Court, and this Court should hold the State accountable for using Hudson’s redacted confession as direct evidence of Turner’s guilt at trial.

In **Bruton v. United States**, 391 U.S. at 128-29, the Supreme Court held that the State could not use a nontestifying co-defendant’s confession against a defendant at trial without violating the Sixth Amendment’s Confrontation Clause. In **Richardson v. Marsh**, 481 U.S. 200, 211 (1987),

the Supreme Court clarified that the Confrontation Clause would not be violated by the admission of a nontestifying codefendant's statement if "the confession [were] redacted to eliminate not only the defendant's name but any reference to his or her existence" and if a proper limiting instruction were given. But **Richardson** cautioned the State that it must not "undo the effect of [a] limiting instruction by urging the jury to use [a co-defendant's] confession in evaluating [defendant's] case". 481 U.S. at 211.

At trial, the State violated both **Bruton** and **Richardson** when it asked the jury to consider Hudson's statement as evidence that Turner both held and fired the weapon that shattered Officer Robertson's leg. Yet, inexplicably, the Court of Appeals found no **Bruton** error:

[A] review of the record shows that the prosecutor expressly noted that Hudson's statement did not mention Turner by name but only mentioned that "the other guy" fired a gun first. In an aside, the prosecutor argued that the jury could conclude that Turner was the "other guy." **Because the prosecutor never implied that Hudson specifically named Turner, the argument did not violate *Bruton*.**

Exhibit 1 at p. 8 (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals interprets **Bruton** much too narrowly. The prosecutor did not have to tell the jury that Hudson "specifically named Turner" to violate the Sixth Amendment. The prosecutor violated the Sixth Amendment by "urging the jury to use

[Hudson's] confession in evaluating [Turner's] case". See **Richardson**, 481 U.S. at 211.

Furthermore, Hudson's reference to the "other guy", when coupled with the State's argument that Turner was the "other guy", was directly accusatory under **Gray v. Maryland**, 523 U.S. 185, 195 (1998). In **Gray**, the Supreme Court held that redactions that replace a name with an obvious blank space, a word such as "deleted", a symbol, or which "similarly notify the jury that a name has been deleted" are insufficient to protect a defendant's Confrontation Clause rights. *Id.* at 194. As the Supreme Court explained, these types of "obviously redacted" confessions are "directly accusatory" in nature and can be understood by the jury to refer specifically to the defendant, particularly when combined with a limiting instruction. *Id.* at 194. But in this case, the State went farther than simply introducing an "obviously redacted" confession that inculpated Turner. The State actually asked the jury to rely on that confession as evidence of Turner's guilt.

The State appears to take the position that it can make any argument it wants about a redacted confession once that confession has been admitted as evidence at trial. And while it is true that a prosecutor "may argue inferences from the evidence and offer conclusions on contested issues," **Miller v. State**, 121 Nev. 92, 100 (2005) (internal quotation marks omitted), both

**Bruton** and **Richardson** explicitly prohibit the State from doing what it did in this case: arguing that Hudson’s redacted confession was evidence of Turner’s guilt. The State’s error was plain under existing Supreme Court precedent.

The Court of Appeals also disregarded existing precedent when it concluded that “Turner did not suffer prejudice during his joint trial, and thus no plain error occurred.” Exhibit 1 at 5. To determine whether a defendant’s Confrontation Clause rights have been violated by the admission of a nontestifying codefendant’s redacted statement, “the central question is whether the jury likely obeyed the court’s instruction to disregard the statement in assessing the defendant’s guilt.” **Ducksworth II**, 114 Nev. at 955. Where the State’s closing argument specifically asked the jury to rely on Hudson’s statement as evidence that Turner held and fired a weapon, and where a limiting instruction was not included in the packet of jury instructions provided during deliberations (III:516-617), it is unlikely that the jury obeyed the court’s oral limiting instruction provided days earlier.<sup>3</sup>

///

///

---

<sup>3</sup> A limiting instruction was read in court on April 23, 2018. (VIII:1734-35). Jury instructions were read and closing arguments were made on April 26, 2018. (IV:738).



In Ducksworth I, 113 Nev. at 794, this Court found prejudicial error from a Bruton violation where the evidence against the appellant was “largely circumstantial.” Notwithstanding the Court of Appeals’ contrary conclusion,<sup>4</sup> evidence of Turner’s guilt of attempted murder<sup>5</sup> with use of a deadly weapon was largely circumstantial. Cf. Exhibit 1 at 5. At trial, the State conceded that Turner and Hudson “didn’t go there with the intent to kill a cop.” (X:2106). Therefore, in order to convict Turner of attempt murder, the State had to prove that Turner actually fired a weapon at the police. See Appellant’s Opening Brief (“AOB”) at 62-63. In closing, the State argued that both men possessed and fired their own individual weapons, and that each man’s specific intent to kill was formed when the door opened and they each opened fire:

These guys did not go over there that day with the intent to murder a police officer. They didn’t. They went over to rob, with high-powered weapons that were loaded, a couple of harmless people.

---

<sup>4</sup> The Court of Appeals found, “Though much of the State’s direct evidence implicated Hudson, there was also considerable direct evidence of Turner’s guilt. For example, Turner confessed to large portions of the crime, and suffered a gunshot wound that medical evidence connected to the shootout following the burglary. Thus, the State did not rely only, or even primarily, upon Hudson’s statement to prove Turner’s guilt. Exhibit 1 at 5.

<sup>5</sup> Keys v. State, 104 Nev. 736, 740 (1988) (attempt murder is a specific intent crime).

**They formed the intent to kill when that door started to open.** And instead of going, This is a bad idea, or, Oh, this is about to get crazy, or, Give me your weed, **they chose to almost end that man's life.** By the grace of God, they missed his artery. He fell. The shotgun blast missed him. Does not change their intent. **Their intent was to kill. Both of those shots were kill shots, and both of those men made their decisions.**

(X:2100) (emphasis added).

No single person fired both these weapons. **Both of the people who fired those weapons had one intent when they pulled the trigger.** Not the intent going to the house, not even the intent when they went into the backyard, maybe not the intent for the 15 minutes they tried to break into the house to rob people with guns; but **when that door opened, the intent is clear: Rounds through the house, rounds at the bodies of human beings.**

(X:2107) (emphasis added).

The State's only evidence of "intent to kill" was that the weapons were fired when the door opened. But unless Turner actually fired one of those weapons, the State could not prove that he, personally, had the specific intent to kill. See, e.g., **Sharma v. State**, 118 Nev. 648, 657-58 (2002) (to convict defendant of attempt murder, jury had to find that he "aided or abetted with the specific intent to kill"); **Bolden v. State**, 121 Nev. 908 (2005) (extending the specific intent requirement of aiding and abetting to the charge of conspiracy), receded from on other grounds by, **Cortinas v. State**, 124 Nev. 1013, 1026-27 (2008).

Apart from the inculpatory statements made by Hudson, there was no direct evidence that Turner possessed or fired any weapon during the underlying conspiracy to commit burglary. See Appellant’s Opening Brief (AOB) at 27-30. Although the Court of Appeals found that Turner “confessed to large portions of the crime” (Exhibit 1 at 5), Turner did not confess to holding or firing a weapon. Turner’s statements to police (*i.e.*, that he was present at the scene, that he knew there were guns, and that there were only two guys who drove to the scene) were insufficient on their own to establish that Turner fired a weapon with the intent to kill. As a result, evidence of Turner’s specific intent to kill was “largely circumstantial”. See Ducksworth I, 113 Nev. at 794.

On habeas review, courts have found actual prejudice and reversible error from the erroneous admission of similar evidence in violation of Bruton. For instance, in Vasquez v. Wilson, 550 F.3d 270, 281 (3d Cir. 2008),<sup>6</sup> the Third Circuit reversed a defendant’s first-degree murder conviction where the defendant “never confessed to being a shooter, and there was no witness at trial who said that he saw [him] fire a weapon” apart from his co-defendant’s improperly-admitted statement. Under those

---

<sup>6</sup> Vasquez was cited with approval by this Court in Sitton, 2019 WL 1772439 at 2.

circumstances, the Third Circuit found that the **Bruton** error had a “substantial and injurious effect” on the trial.

Likewise, in **Rueda-Denvers v. Baker**, 359 F.Supp.3d 973 (2019), the U.S. District Court for the District of Nevada recently reversed an appellant’s convictions for first degree murder, attempt murder, and other crimes where the only direct evidence that defendant knew his co-defendant had placed a bomb in a coffee cup came from his co-defendant’s improperly-admitted statement, and defendant denied such knowledge. The court found “actual prejudice” from the **Bruton** error in that case as well.

In this case, prejudice was not limited to the improper admission of evidence – an even greater prejudice occurred because of the State’s improper use of that evidence in its closing argument. Like in **Vasquez** and **Rueda-Denvers**, there was no direct evidence of Turner’s guilt on the attempt murder charges. See AOB at 28-30. Turner denied holding or firing any weapon. As a result, when the State argued that Hudson’s statement to police established that Turner shot Officer Robertson, the error caused actual prejudice and a miscarriage of justice requiring reversal, even under a plain

///

error standard of review.<sup>7</sup>

*B. The State's expert notice was not sufficiently specific to satisfy NRS 174.234(2)(a).*

To present expert testimony at trial, the State had to provide Turner with the following information at least 21 days prior to trial:

- (a) A brief statement regarding the subject matter on which the expert is expected to testify **and the substance of the testimony**;
- (b) A copy of the curriculum vitae of the expert witness; and
- (c) A copy of all reports made by or at the direction of the expert witness.

**NRS 174.234(2)** (emphasis added). On appeal, Turner argued that the State should not have been allowed to present expert testimony about stippling of gunpowder on human skin or clothing because that topic was never disclosed in any of the State's pretrial expert disclosures. See AOB at 30-50; (III:545-55).

Instead of notifying Turner that Anya Lester would give expert testimony about stippling, the State disclosed the "substance" of Lester's

---

<sup>7</sup> Importantly, the defendants in **Vasquez** and **Rueda-Denvers** were held to a higher standard of review than the plain error standard relied on by the Court of Appeals in the instant case. See Henderson v. Kibbe, 431 U.S. 145, 154 (1977) ("The burden of demonstrating that an erroneous instruction was so prejudicial that it will support a collateral attack on the constitutional validity of a state court's judgment is even greater than the showing required to establish plain error on direct appeal."). Where the errors in **Vasquez** and **Rueda-Denvers** were deemed "so prejudicial" as to warrant collateral relief, the more serious error in this case certainly establish prejudicial plain error.

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