IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

STEVEN TURNER, Appellant,	Electronically Filed Jan 21 2020 02:31 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court
vs	Case No. 76465
THE STATE OF NEVADA,	
Respondent,)))

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

COMES NOW, the State of Nevada, Real Party in Interest, by STEVEN B. WOLFSON, Clark County District Attorney, through his Deputy, JOHN NIMAN, and submits this Answer to Petition for Review in obedience to this Court's order filed January 7, 2020, in the above-captioned case. This Answer is based on the following memorandum and all papers and pleadings on file herein.

Dated this 21st day of January, 2020.

Respectfully submitted,

ARGUMENT

"Supreme Court review is not a matter of right but of judicial discretion." NRAP 40B(a). Pursuant to that statute, the Supreme Court considers certain factors when determining whether to review a Court of Appeals decision, including, "(1) Whether the question presented is one of first impression of general statewide significance; (2) Whether the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a prior decision of the Court of Appeals, the Supreme Court, or the United States Supreme Court; or (3) Whether the case involves fundamental issues of statewide public importance." NRAP 40B(a). Appellants bear the burden of "succinctly stat[ing] the precise basis on which [they] seek[] review by the Supreme Court." NRAP 40B(d).

Appellant raises two claims in support of Supreme Court review. First, Appellant argues that the Court of Appeals ("COA") erred in affirming Appellant's convictions, alleging improper evidence under <u>Bruton v. United States</u>, 391 U.S. 123, 88 S.Ct. 1620 (1968). Petition for Review ("Petition") at 4. Second, Appellant argues that the COA incorrectly interpreted NRS 174.234(2)(a). <u>Id.</u> at 17.

I. APPELLANT FAILS TO MEET ANY OF THIS COURT'S USUAL GUIDELINES FOR CONSIDERATION

While the NRAP 40(B)(a) factors are "neither controlling nor fully measure[] the Supreme Court's discretion" in determining whether to review a COA decision, Appellant's claims fail to meet any of those usual guidelines for

consideration. Appellant merely asserts, but fails to argue how, this case presents an issue of statewide public importance. Petition at 3. The district court's decision, and the COA affirmance thereof, do not conflict with any Nevada Supreme Court or United States Supreme Court precedent; instead, they were a direct result of the COA's consideration of applicable cases. Furthermore, claims regarding sufficiency of expert notice are far from issues of first impression in either the Court of Appeals or this Court.

A review of Appellant's arguments demonstrates that Appellant simply disagrees with the COA's analysis of Appellant's claims. Rather than argue why his claims merit review, Appellant simply attempts to relitigate the same issues, under the guise of a petition for review.

Because Appellant fails to demonstrate that his Petition meets the usual guidelines for review by this Court, the State submits Appellant's Petition should be denied in its entirety.

II. THE COURT OF APPEALS APPLIED THE CORRECT STANDARD IN AFFIRMING APPELLANT'S CONVICTION

Appellant first argues at length that the COA ruled in conflict with <u>Bruton</u>. Petition at 4-17. In so arguing, however, Appellant overlooks the correct standard of review for his appeal, and which properly formed the basis for the COA's decision.

Appellant seems to recognize that the proper standard for the COA's review was "plain error," however, Appellant goes on to argue that the COA conflicts with Nevada and United States Supreme Court cases that do not deal with plain error.

See, Petition at 9.

Appellant relies on Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123, 88 S.Ct. 1620 (1968) to argue that the COA erred in affirming Appellant's conviction because the district court erred in allowing Appellant's co-defendant's statement to be used against Appellant at trial. Petition at 9. However, the COA did not rely on the Bruton standard in reaching its conclusion. Affirmance at 4 ("During trial, Turner failed to object to the State's use of Hudson's statement. Consequently, we review those matters only for plain error." (Emphasis added)). Using that standard, the COA concluded that Appellant "did not suffer prejudice during his joint trial, and thus no plain error occurred." Id. at 5 (emphasis added). Furthermore, a review of the context of the COA's reference to <u>Bruton</u> reveals that it is only comparative dicta. While evaluating Appellant's several arguments, the COA opined, "[b]ecause the prosecutor never implied that Hudson specifically named Turner, the argument did not violate Bruton. Moreover, even if anything else in the prosecutor's statements could be construed as improper, any error would be harmless." Id. The COA went on to explain how one other argument failed to demonstrate prejudice against Appellant. Id. at 5-6. It is clear from the context that

the COA was merely opining that not only did Appellant's arguments fail to demonstrate plain error (the standard that was clearly applied), but that those arguments would have failed the more favorable <u>Bruton</u> standard, as well.

Appellant goes on to reference <u>Richardson v. Marsh</u>, 481 U.S. 200, 107 S.Ct. 1702 (1987), arguing, "the State violated both <u>Bruton</u> and <u>Richardson</u> when it <u>asked</u> the jury to consider Hudson's statement as evidence..." Petition at 10 (emphasis in original). However, the <u>Richardson</u> Court held "that the confrontation clause is not violated by the admission of a non-testifying co-defendant's confession with a proper limiting instruction, when, as here, the confession is redacted to eliminate not only the defendant's name, but any reference to her existence." 481 U.S. at 211, 107 S.Ct. at 1709. That Court "express[ed] no opinion on the admissibility of a confession in which the defendant's name has been replaced with a symbol or neutral pronoun." Id.

The Nevada Supreme Court clarified <u>Richardson</u>'s holding. <u>Lisle v. State</u>, 113 Nev. 679, 693, 941 P.2d 459, 468 (1997) (<u>citing Richardson</u>, 481 U.S. at 211, 107 S.Ct. at 1709) (concluding that a redacted version of such a statement may be admitted). In <u>Lisle</u>, the Court upheld a conviction when the incriminating codefendant testimony replaced Lisle's name with "the other guy." <u>Id.</u> at 692-93, 941 P.2d at 468. That Court concluded that the statements presented minimal prejudice,

if any, to Lisle, because of the overwhelming evidence against him. <u>Id.</u> at 693, 941 P.2d at 468.

Appellant also references Gray v. Maryland, 523 U.S. 185, 118 S.Ct. 1151 (1998), arguing that the redactions in the instant case insufficiently protected Appellant's Confrontation Clause rights. Petition at 11. The Nevada Supreme Court has recognized the reasoning in Gray, but also recognized a distinction between the that reasoning and the reasoning in Lisle, based on the type and quantity of evidence. Ducksworth v. State, 114 Nev. 951, 954-55, 966 P.2d 165, 166-67 (1998). The distinction, according to the Ducksworth Court, came down to whether the evidence was circumstantial and/or very convincing. Id. at 955, 966 P.2d at 167. In Ducksworth, the Court denied the State's petition for rehearing "because '[t]he evidence against [defendant] was largely circumstantial and was much less convincing' than that against [the co-defendant]" and therefore, was more like Gray than Lisle. Id. (citing Ducksworth v. State, 113 Nev. 780, 794, 942 P.2d 157, 166 (1997)). By the Nevada Supreme Court's own reasoning, there is a clear distinction between that case and Lisle. 114 Nev. at 955, 966 P.2d at 167.

⁻

¹ <u>See</u>, <u>Ducksworth v. State</u>, 114 Nev. 951, 954 n.1, 966 P.2d 165, 166 n.1 (1998) (recognizing the same conclusions in both <u>Gray</u> and <u>Stevens v. State</u>, 97 Nev. 443, 634 P.2d 662 (1981)).

Here, the COA acknowledged both <u>Ducksworth</u> and <u>Lisle</u>, recognizing the standard for challenges under <u>Bruton</u>. Affirmance at 4. The COA went on to determine that this case bore more similarities with <u>Lisle</u>, explaining:

...there was [] considerable direct evidence of Turner's guilt. For example, Turner confessed to large portions of the crime, and suffered a gunshot wound that medical evidence connected to the shootout following the burglary. Thus, the State did not rely only, or even primarily, upon Hudson's statement to prove Turner's guilt.

<u>Id.</u> at 5. Therefore, because the Nevada Supreme Court has recognized a distinction between <u>Lisle</u> and <u>Ducksworth</u>, and because the COA determined that the instant case was more similar to one than the other, the COA did not contradict Nevada precedent.

Appellant further cites to foreign cases in support of his <u>Bruton</u> argument. <u>See</u>, Petition at 15-16 (<u>citing Vasquez v. Wilson</u>, 550 F.3d 270 (3d Cir. 2008) and <u>Rueda-Denvers v. Baker</u>, 359 F.Supp.3d 973 (D. Nev. 2019)). However, Appellant fails to allege or show that these foreign cases have been adopted or applied in Nevada.

Because the COA considered the applicable Nevada precedent for Appellant's claims, and applied the same in affirming Appellant's conviction, further review by this Court is unnecessary.

///

///

III. THE COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY INTERPRETED NRS 174.234(2)(a)

Appellant next claims that the State insufficiently noticed its firearms expert, Anya Lester ("Lester") under NRS 174.234(2)(a). Petition at 17. However, Appellant fails to account for the district court's limiting of Lester's testimony, and has failed to provide any case law suggesting that special disclosure is required in these circumstances.

NRS 174.234(2) requires that initial expert disclosures, including the "subject matter on which the expert is expected to testify," "the substance of the testimony," and the expert's CV and any of their reports, must be provided "not less than 21 days before trial." The standard of review on appeal for a district court's decision regarding expert testimony is abuse of discretion. <u>Mulder v. State</u>, 116 Nev. 1, 12–13, 992 P.2d 845, 852 (2000); <u>see also Brown v. Capanna</u>, 105 Nev. 665, 671, 7782 P.2d 1299, 1303 (1989).

In this case, the district court reviewed Lester's experience under <u>Hallmark v. Eldridge</u>, 124 Nev. 492, 189 P.3d 646 (2008) and concluded that Lester was qualified to discuss stippling in a limited fashion. Appellant's Appendix, Volume IX ("9AA") at 1886. In its determination, the district court specified what would be allowable under Lester's disclosed expertise, but explained that it would not allow Lester to testify regarding any opinions that were not contained in Lester's expert report. <u>Id.</u> Upon voir dire of Lester outside the presence of the jury, the district

court found that stippling can be classified as a form of gunshot residue, and thus, is included in the types of training firearms experts – like Lester – receive. <u>Id.</u> at 1878, 1882, 1886, 1899-1900, 1903-06. In sum, the district court limited Lester's testimony to foundational testimony regarding what stippling is, and the general distances at which stippling can be seen. <u>Id.</u> at 1885-86, 1899-1900, 1903-06. A review of Lester's testimony before the jury demonstrates that her testimony was, indeed, thus limited. Id. at 1910.

The COA reviewed the district court's determination and concluded, "the district court did not abuse its discretion in allowing [Lester's] testimony because the decision was supported by substantial evidence." Affirmance at 7. The COA further determined that the expert notice was sufficient under NRS 174.234(2), "because stippling is a subcategory of firearms analysis and specifically relates to gunshot residue," therefore, "Lester's notice was sufficient to include testimony regarding stippling." Id. Because both the district court and the COA utilized the proper statutory analyses in ruling on Lester's stippling testimony, there was no abuse of discretion, and Appellant cannot demonstrate that Supreme Court review is necessary.

Appellant cites to a single case in support of his argument that Supreme Court review is necessary in this case. Petition at 19 (citing Perez v. State, 129 Nev. 850, 313 P.3d 862 (2013)). However, Perez is easily distinguishable from the

instant case. Additionally, Appellant's argument is belied by the record and, therefore, does not entitle Appellant to Supreme Court review.

The <u>Perez</u> Court treated a doctor's extensive opinion regarding "grooming" of child victims. 129 Nev. at 854, 313 P.3d at 865. The description of the doctor's testimony in <u>Perez</u> appears to include significant opinion and analysis of the facts of that case. There is no record in <u>Perez</u> that the district court limited the doctor's testimony in any way. In contrast, in the instant case, the district court expressly limited Lester's testimony. 9AA at 1886. Indeed, the district court explicitly precluded any opinion testimony. <u>Id.</u> Because Lester's testimony was significantly limited by the district court in this case, the State submits that the reasoning in <u>Perez</u>, regarding the doctor's extensive testimony, does not completely apply.²

Appellant argues that, pursuant to <u>Perez</u>, he alleged bad faith and prejudice resulting from insufficient notice of Lester's testimony. <u>Id.</u> However, at trial, when the State sought to clarify whether Appellant was arguing bad faith, Appellant's counsel repeatedly denied any allegations of bad faith. 9AA at 1888, 1890. Furthermore, the COA addressed Appellant's argument, concluding, "because neither the expert nor lay witness testimony was improper...any bad faith argument fails." Affirmance at 8, n.3.

_

² Appellant appears to rely on a dissenting opinion to further his argument. Petition at 19-20. As dissenting opinions bear no precedential value, the State has not specifically addressed this argument.

Because both the district court and the COA addressed the sufficiency of notice under NRS 174.234(2), the State respectfully submits that Supreme Court review of this argument is unnecessary.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing and the record before this Court, the State respectfully submits that Appellant's Petition for Review should be denied.